Engineer Pass Trail

STARTING POINT: Ouray

FINISHING POINT: Lake City—Cinnamon Pass Trail

TOTAL MILEAGE: 31.0 miles

UNPAVED MILEAGE: 27.2 miles

DRIVING TIME: 3 hours

ROUTE ELEVATION: 8,932 to 12,750 feet

DIFFICULTY RATING: 4

SCENIC RATING: 10

Special Attractions:

• Part of the historic Alpine Loop, with many famous mining sites.

• Driving through the twenty-foot deep channel in the snow early in the season.

• Spectacular Rocky Mountain scenery

• Whitmore Falls.

History:

Six years before building the Million Dollar Highway between Ouray and Silverton, Otto Meats extended his toll road from Saguache to Lake City and through to Animas Forks, via Engineer Pass. Meats’s network of toll roads continued south to Eureka and Silverton and north to Mineral Point, Poughkeepsie, and Ouray.  From its completion in August 1877, this road was an important stagecoach route and the principal freight route for the wagons and mule trains that hauled supplies and ore between all the main mining camps in the area and Saguache, which was the closest major supply center. Within three years, the route had daily stages run by the Rocky Mountain Stage and Express Company.

The Engineer Pass 4WD trail passes the sites of some of the major mining camps that were established in the area. The turnoff to the first, Poughkeepsie, is located two and one-half miles from the start of the trail. This town sat at an altitude of 11,650 feet about seven miles south of Ouray; its remote location and the poor quality of the roads leading to it hindered development. The winters were so harsh that miners could work only two or three months of the Despite the hardships Poughkeepsie residents had to endure, the town was surprisingly well planned. It had a post office established in 1880, a newspaper called the Poughkeepsie Telegraph, stores, restaurants, saloons, and other businesses. Miners usually sent ore to Lake City or Silverton via rough roads by burro. Transporting the ore in this manner was so difficult and expensive eventually that mine owners decided it wasn’t worth it and ceased operations. No buildings from the town remain.  Mineral Point mining camp was located about one and three-quarters of a

Mile southwest of Engineer Pass, at an altitude of 11,500 feet. Prospectors Abe Burrows and Charles McIntyre founded the camp in 1873. To generate interest in

camp, promoters of Mineral Point circulated far-fetched advertisements with unrealistic claims and pictures to raise capital.  One advertisement depicted a steamship running up the Animas River and streetcars running from Mineral Point to Animas Forks!  In truth, only very mediocre transporta​tion was available, and miners had to use cumbersome wagons or burros to transport their ore. Most was sent either to Silverton via Animas Forks or to Lake City. Because of the inhospitable winters, the lack of trans​portation, and the silver crash of 1893, by the mid-1890s Mineral Point was on its way to becoming a ghost camp.

Just beyond Engineer Pass is the site of Engineer City, established around 1874 when H. A. Woods staked the first claim in the area and named it the Annie Woods Lode. By 1875, the population of prospec​tors grew to about four hundred. For a short time, Engineer City prided itself on being the largest city in the state without a saloon. The prospectors were simply too busy look​ing for silver to spend time in a bar. In 1882, the Frank Hough Mine was discovered. A camp of about fifty men operated it in American Flats on the eastern side of Engineer Mountain. It was closed in 1900, and the ruins of the mine remain.  Rose’s Cabin was once a lively inn offer​ing food, lodging, and entertainment to miners and travelers. Corydon Rose was one of the first pioneers to explore the San Juans after a treaty was signed with the Utes in 1873. Rose decided to build an inn to the area, locating it about halfway bet Ouray and Lake City to provide a convenient stopover for travelers along the route.

The area around the cabin began to grow in population as miners settled there. They built cabins nearby and worked mines in the surrounding hills. It is estimated that fifty people settled in the vicinity. Rose’s Cabin served the community as its local bar, restaurant, hotel, general store, and post office. Rose kept sixty burros in a stable to ship supplies to the miners and carry ore down to his cabin. The cabin was the hive of activity in the region. Only traces of the cabin remain. The structure still standing is the old stable; the cabin was situated to the left.  Capitol City was established about ten miles west of Lake City after rich silver discoveries in 1877 brought prospectors to the area. The town of Galena City began as a tent city, but the tents were soon replaced by permanent structures. George S. Lee, a miner with grand plans, had the town’s name changed to Capitol City because he was certain that that Colorado would move its capital to the San Juan Mountains, and he would live in the governor’s mansion. To aid in the con​struction of Capitol City; Lee built a sawmill and planning mill. He also erected the Henson Creek Smelter, one mile below the town, to process ore from the many mines nearby.

A town site of two hundred acres was laid out; a schoolhouse was built, although the pop​ulation never exceeded four hundred and there were only a handful of students. Lee built him​self a large and elegant house at the edge of town to be the governor’s mansion, where he and his wife entertained lavishly. Their home even had a ballroom and orchestra pit. Bricks imported from Pueblo were estimated to have cost a dollar apiece! However, Lee’s efforts did not bear fruit: Capitol City never even became the county seat.

About four miles before reaching Lake City the road goes through the town of Henson, a mining camp that grew up around the Ute-Ulay Mine. In 1871, Harry Henson discovered the mine but the land belonged to the Indians, who did not take kindly to white trespassers. Henson was unable to develop the property until well after the Brunot Treaty of 1873, as violence with the Indians continued for several years. White settlers clashed with the native Indians near Lake City as late as 1879. There was also a long, bitter, and violent miners’ strike in Henson. Reportedly, the strike started because the mine owners insisted that all single men board at the company boardinghouse. To protest, miners went on strike. When the owners hired non​union labor to replace the striking miners, fights erupted and some scabs were run out of town. The volatility of the situation prompted the governor of Colorado to send four companies of cavalry and two companies of infantry to settle the dispute. The dispute eventually went to trial, and all the miners were forced to leave camp. Henson’s post office, established in May 1883, was closed in November 1913. The buildings still standing in Henson are privately owned, and many are still in use.

Description:

This route commences south from Ouray on the Million Dollar Highway, US 550.

If you wish to avoid the hardest section of the Engineer Pass Trail, the route can be commenced at Silverton by taking the road to Animas Forks (Southwest #6) and then the North Fork Cutoff (Southwest #5) to connect with Engineer Pass Trail. The turnoff from US 550 onto Engineer Pass Trail is well marked with a national for​est access sign. This 4WD track gets straight down to business. In fact, the next five miles are the hardest of the entire trip. Sections of the road are steep and rough. It is also narrow with sheer drop-offs. Although it may appear threatening at first, it is readily passable for 4WD vehicles if taken slowly and carefully. A tip for those who are nervous about driving shelf roads and encountering oncoming vehicles: Leave early. This road is popular, and oncoming 4WD vehicles will be encountered frequently later in the day, as those traveling from Lake City are descending. Pull-offs are reasonably frequent.

At the 1.6-mile point, you pass the Mickey Breene Mine, which was discovered in 1890. The mine yielded high-grade ore and produced copper and silver.  About two and one-half miles from US 550, the road intersects with the Poughkeepsie 4WD road. From the Mineral Point turnoff, the ter​rain starts to clear, with numerous open, although boggy meadows. The climb con​tinues to Engineer Pass at 12,750 feet.

From the summit, the road descends through the southern edge of American Flats and past the site of Engineer City.  From this point, the road follows the path of Henson Creek all the way to Lake City.  About two miles after the summit, there is a scenic old cabin beside the creek at Palmetto Gulch; shortly after that, a bridge crosses the creek at what was the site of the Palmetto Gulch Mill. From this point, the road is passable by passenger vehicles.

The road passes close by Rose’s Cabin, which was an important way station on the stage route. The remains of the buildings can still be seen.  Less than a mile further is the Empire  Chief Mill that was worked from January to March 1929, when an avalanche killed four men and destroyed most of the buildings.  A few miles on, a sign marks a short walking trail down to beautiful Whitmore Falls. Though short, the hike back up is strenuous.  The original Capitol City, with its grand aspirations to be the state capital, is now reduced to the remains of the post office. However, the town site is on private land, and new homes continue to be built there.

The route continues to Henson and then through Henson Creek Canyon to Lake City

Bulldozers plow portions of Engineer Pass, which is usually opened around mid-​June. When the road crews get through, they leave in their wake a narrow channel through the snow, with walls of snow up to twenty feet high on either side.

